903511-3



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM

Gradinaru v. Washington State Department of Social and Health Services, Court of Appeals No. 70138-0-I

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Estera Gradinaru, appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Estera Gradinaru requests review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, in <u>Gradinaru v. State of Washington Department of Social and Health Services</u>, filed March 24, 2014, No. 70138-0-I, affirming the Department of Social and Health Services' finding that she financially exploited a vulnerable adult in violation of RCW 74.34.020(6).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

- **A.** Whether this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals' construction of RCW 74.34.020(6) conflicts with this Court's statutory construction precedents?
- **B.** Whether this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals' construction of the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act presents a question of substantial public interest?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

On May 2, 2011, the Department of Social and Health Services

("DSHS" or "Department"), Respondent, issued a Notice of Preliminary

Findings advising Estera Gradinaru, Petitioner, that a DSHS investigation

had resulted in a "substantiated finding" of financial exploitation against her. <u>See</u> Certified Administrative Record ("CR") at 103.¹

Ms. Gradinaru timely requested an administrative hearing. A hearing was held before Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") Carolyn Pinkett on August 24, 2011. <u>See</u> Transcript ("TR") at 1. On October 26, 2011, Judge Pinkett issued an initial order reversing the Department's substantiated finding and dismissed the case against Ms. Gradinaru. <u>See</u> CR at 37.

The Department appealed to the Board of Appeals ("BOA" or "Board"). The BOA reversed Judge Pinkett's initial order and issued a final order reinstating the substantiated finding against Ms. Gradinaru after concluding that she engaged in financial exploitation of a vulnerable adult in violation of RCW 74.34.200(2). See CR at 1. Ms. Gradinaru sought review of the Board's order in the King County Superior Court. On March 1, 2013, the Superior Court, the Honorable Bruce Heller presiding, issued a decision affirming the Board's order.

Ms. Gradinaru subsequently appealed to Division I of the Court of Appeals. On March 24, 2014, the Court of Appeals issued a decision dismissing Ms. Gradinaru's appeal and affirming the agency's decision.

¹ The Certified Administrative Record is attached hereto as Appendix B. The Transcript of Proceedings is attached hereto as Appendix C.

The State's motion to publish the Court of Appeals decision was granted on May 14, 2014. Ms. Gradinaru now petitions this Court for review of the Court of Appeals' decision.

B. Facts

The formal findings of fact underlying the BOA's determination are not in dispute. Ms. Gradinaru was the co-owner of Bellevue Rose Adult Family Home. Findings of Fact ("FF") at 1. Ms. Gradinaru suffers from depression and has a history of suicidal ideation. <u>See</u> FF 4. Before the events leading up to the charges in this case, Ms. Gradinaru tried to commit suicide by ingesting her own prescription medications on two previous occasions. <u>See id</u>. Ms. Gradinaru had experienced a difficult divorce in 2009, and was recommended for partial-day hospitalization by physicians at Overlake Hospital as a result of her depression. <u>See id</u>. Unfortunately, Ms. Gradinaru could not participate in the program because she could not afford it. <u>See id</u>.

On October 12, 2010, Ms. Gradinaru's father, who also owned an adult family home, asked Ms. Gradinaru to pick up some medicine for one of his residents. See FF 7. Ms. Gradinaru was experiencing symptoms of depression and stress resulting from her divorce. See id. Ms. Gradinaru

took Elaine's² morphine and drove to a park-and-ride, where she attempted to commit suicide by ingesting one-half capful of concentrated morphine (approximately one cubic centimeter or 20 milligrams). See FF 7-8. Her father later found her at the park-and-ride and she was taken to Overlake Hospital where she was admitted to the emergency room and subsequently transferred to the psychiatric ward for suicidal ideation. See FF 7; CR at 95.

Katherine Ander, a DSHS investigator, testified that as a registered nurse, Ms. Gradinaru had the authority to possess patients' prescription medications and delegate duties relating to the administration of medications at the time the incident underlying this case occurred. See TR at 32. Ms. Ander explained that her investigation revealed that Ms. Gradinaru was in charge of medication administration in her own adult care home and in her father's adult care home (a common practice in adult care homes). See id. Ms. Ander also testified that there was no evidence that Ms. Gradinaru was addicted to morphine. TR at 23, 51. The morphine ingested by Ms. Gradinaru was prescribed to Elaine, the alleged victim, as part of a "comfort kit." FF 3. Testimony at the hearing established that Elaine did not require morphine during her stay at the

 $^{^{2}}$ Elaine was a patient at Ms. Gradinaru's adult care home. FF 3. Elaine's last name has been omitted in order to protect her privacy.

home. <u>Id</u>. Ms. Ander concluded that Ms. Gradinaru's use of Elaine's morphine was an isolated incident and did not qualify as "drug diversion," the practice of taking a patient's prescription medications for personal use or distribution. <u>See</u> TR at 40, 51. Ms. Ander conceded on the record that there would have been no objective medical benefit to Ms. Gradinaru from taking the medication. TR at 49.

V. ARGUMENT WHY RELIEF SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with this</u> <u>Court's Statutory Construction Precedents.</u>

This Court may accept a petition for review where the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Washington Supreme Court. See RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court should accept review of Ms. Gradinaru's petition because the Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with this Court's statutory construction precedents.

1. The Court of Appeals' Construction Conflicts with this Court's Decisions Holding that a Statute is to be Construed in Accordance with its Plain Meaning.

This Court has repeatedly held that where "a statute is clear on its face, its meaning [should] be derived from the language of the statute alone." <u>Densley v. Dep't Ret. Sys.</u>, 162 Wn.2d 201, 219 (2007) (quoting <u>Kilian v. Atkinson</u>, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20 (2002)) (alteration in original). In other words, "courts should assume the Legislature means exactly what it says in a statute and apply it as written." <u>Id</u>. (internal citation and

quotation marks omitted). Because the Court of Appeals construction of RCW 74.34.020(6) is contrary to the plain language of that statute, its decision conflicts with this Court's decisions holding that, when a statute is interpreted by a court, the plain meaning of the language in the statute is controlling.

The ultimate question before the Court of Appeals in this case was whether Ms. Gradinaru's ingestion of a vulnerable adult's morphine in an attempt to commit suicide rose to the level of "financial exploitation" as that term is defined in the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act. RCW 74.34.020(6) defines the term "financial exploitation" as:

[T]he illegal or improper use, control over, or withholding of the property, income, resources, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult by any person or entity for person's or entity's *profit or advantage* other than for the vulnerable adult's profit or advantage.

RCW 73.34.020(6) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals adopted the following definition of the term "advantage": "a more favorable or improved position or condition . . . benefit, profit, or gain of any kind." App. A at 4. The court then went on to hold that Ms. Gradinaru gained an "advantage" by taking Elaine's morphine because it enabled her to carry out her suicide attempt. <u>Id</u>.

The Court of Appeals' conclusion is unsupported by the evidence and contrary to the plain text of the statute. Even if one adopts the Court

of Appeals' definition of the term "advantage," Ms. Gradinaru's conduct still does not fit within the scope of RCW 74.34.020(6). It is simply not reasonable to construe an attempt to commit suicide as an act taken for the benefit, profit, or gain of the actor. In fact, it is a crime in the State of Washington for a person to promote a suicide attempt. See RCW 9A.36.060. Moreover, the medical evidence before the court made clear that Ms. Gradinaru was not in any way advantaged by ingesting the morphine. Ms. Ander, the DSHS investigator, conceded on the record that no medical professional would classify a suicide attempt as an act carried out for the person's benefit. TR at 49. Because Ms. Gradinaru's suicide attempt did not bring about any "benefit" or "advantage" to Ms. Gradinaru under the plain meaning of those terms, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Ms. Gradinaru committed financial exploitation is contrary to the plain language of RCW 74.34.020(6) and therefore contrary to the decisions of this Court. See Densley v. Dep't Ret. Sys., 162 Wn.2d at 219 (holding that a statute must be construed in accordance with its plain meaning).

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with this Court's Holidng in <u>Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.</u>

In <u>Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.</u>, 146 Wn.2d 1 (2001), this Court resolved a question of statutory construction previously unresolved in this state. Specifically, this Court held that the plain

7

meaning of words in a statute is derived not from the plain meaning of the words when viewed in isolation, but rather from the context in which the words are used and the statutory scheme as a whole. Id. at 11 - 12. In other words, the Court held that when applying the plain meaning rule, it is necessary to examine the "statute in which the provision at issue is found, as well as related statutes or other provisions of the same statute" and interpret the words in context. Id. In reaching its conclusion, this Court quoted the following passage from a leading treatise on modern statutory construction:

In the past, the plain meaning rule rested on theories of language and meaning, now discredited, which held that words have inherent or fixed meanings. These theories are unnecessary to the plain meaning rule, however, if the rule is interepreted to direct a court to construe and apply words according to the meaning that they are ordinarily given, taking into account the statutory context, basic rules of grammar, and any special usages stated by the legislature on the face of the statute. In addition, background facts of which judicial notice can be taken are properly considered as part of the statute's context because presumably the legislature also was familiar with them when it passed the statute. Reference to a statute's context to determine its plain meaning also includes examining closely related statutes, because legislators enact legislation in light of existing statutes.

Id. at 11 (quoting 2A Norman J. Singer, *Statutes and Statutory Construction* § 48A: 16, at 809 – 10 (6th ed. 2000)).

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with this Court's holding in Campbell & Gwinn. Although the Court of Appeals claimed adherence to the plain meaning rule in reaching its decision in Ms. Gradinaru's case, it assigned a meaning to the term "advantage" that is completely inconsistent with the context in which the term is used in the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act. The Court of Appeals concluded that the term "advantage" as used in RCW 74.34.020(6) means "gain of any kind." Appendix ("App.") A (Court of Appeals Decision) at 4. This definition of the term "advantage" reads the term completely out of context. The term "advantage" in this case is being construed in the context of a statute aimed at preventing the *financial exploitation* of vulnerable adults. See RCW 74.34.005 (The legislature finds and declares that . . . [s]ome adults are vulnerable and may be subjected to abuse, neglect, financial exploitation, or abandonment by a family member, care provider, or other person who has a relationship with the vulnerable adult"). But, the Court of Appeals definition of the term "advantage" reads the word "financial" right out of RCW 74.34.020(6).

The word "financial" qualifies the word "exploitation" in RCW 74.34.020(6). The word "financial" is defined by Merriam-Webster's Dictionary as: "relating to finance or financiers." Merriam-Webster's Dictionary Online, http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/financial.

The word finance is in turn defined as: "money or other liquid resources of a government, business, group, or individual." Merriam-Webster's Dictionary Online, http://www.meriam-webster.com/dictionary/finance. Thus, it is clear from the statute's text that the type of exploitation that the legislature sought to prevent was exploitation related to a vulnerable adult's finances, i.e., the vulnerable adult's liquid resources, and that the *profit* or *advantage* gained by the other person must be quantifiable in monetary terms. <u>See</u> RCW 74.34.020(6). In other words, in the context of RCW 74.34.020(6), the term "advantage" means financial advantage.

This conclusion is supported by the examples of financial exploitation provided in the statute. One example of financial exploitation provided in the statute is "the use of deception . . . by a person or entity in a position of trust . . . to obtain or use the property, income, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult for the benefit of a person or entity other than the vulnerable adult." RCW 74.34.020(6)(a). Another is: "the breach of a fiduciary duty, including, but not limited to, the misuse of a power of attorney, trust, or guardianship appointment that results in the unauthorized sale, or transfer of the property, income, resources, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult." RCW 74.34.020(6)(b). It is evident from the foregoing examples that the individuals targeted by the statute are

trustees, fiduciaries, and other individuals who may pose a threat of misappropriating vulnerable adult's financial assets.³

Because the Court of Appeals' construction of the term "advantage" in this case is inconsistent with the context in which that term is used in RCW 74.34.020(6) its decision conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Campbell & Gwinn</u> holding that words in a statute are not to be read out of context. 146 Wn.2d at 11 - 12.

3. The Court of Appeals Decision is Inconsistent with this Court's Previous Applications of the Canons of Statutory Construction.

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with this Court's previous applications of the canons of statutory construction. This Court has long recognized that a statute must not be interpreted in a way that leads to absurd results. <u>See Hangartner v. City of Seattle</u>, 151 Wn.2d 439, 448 (2004) ("We will not interpret a statute in a manner that leads to an absurd result."); <u>State v. J.P.</u>, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450 (2003) ("[A] reading that results in absurd results must be avoided because it will not be presumed that the legislature intended absurd results.") (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). The Court of Appeals' decision runs

11

³ Although the examples of financial exploitation outlined in RCW 74.34.020(6)(a) and (b) were not part of the statute at the time of Ms. Gradinaru's suicide attempt, but this Court has previously held that it is appropriate to look to subsequent legislative amendments in determining the meaning of a statutory provision. See State v. Barr, 99 Wn.2d 75, 78 – 79 (1983).

contrary to the absurd results canon because the decision classifies a suicide attempt as an act that is taken for one's "advantage" as a matter of law. It is difficult to conceive of a more absurd result, especially in light of the fact that an attempt to help another person commit suicide would be a crime. See RCW 9A.36.060.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the canon against superfluity. This Court has established that "[i]t is a fundamental principle of statutory construction that courts must not construe statutes so as to nullify, void or render meaningless or superfluous any section or words of the statute." <u>In re Dependency of K.D.S.</u>, 176 Wn.2d 644, 656 (2013); <u>Taylor v. City of Redmond</u>, 89 Wn.2d 315, 319 (1977). However, as discussed above, the Court of Appeals construction does exactly that by assigning absolutely no weight to the word "financial" as used in the statute and holding that the term "advantage" means more than financial advantage for purposes of RCW 74.34.020(6).

Because the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case conflicts with this Court's statutory construction precedents this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. <u>This Court Should Grant Review Because Ms.</u> <u>Gradinaru's Case Presents a Question of Substantial</u> <u>Public Interest.</u>

This Court should grant Ms. Gradinaru's petition for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because her case presents a question of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. This Court has previously held that "suspected abuse of a nursing home patient" is a matter of public concern. White v. State, 131 Wn.2d 1, 11 (1997). According to the Seattle Times, there is an Adult Family Home in every city in Washington State. Michael J. Berens, How the Aged and Frail are Exploited in Washington's Adult Family Homes, Seattle Times (January 30, 2010). In 2010, there were 2,843 such homes in Washington with a total of approximately 11,200 residents. Id. These figures do not include individuals living in licensed nursing homes, hospitals, and with relatives. The enactment of the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act is in itself proof that the treatment of vulnerable adults is of great concern to the people of Washington. Since the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act was first enacted less than 20 years ago, there has been very little case law interpreting the Act.

Ms. Gradinaru's case presents a question of substantial public interest because it is a question of first impression and defines the limits of a caregiver's liability under the financial exploitation provision of the Abuse of Vulnerable Adult's Act. A finding of financial exploitation under RCW 74.34.020 will permanently preclude a person from working with vulnerable adults in the State of Washington. <u>See</u> RCW 74.39A.056. This Court has previously provided guidance as to what constitutes "neglect" under RCW 74.34.020. <u>See Raven v. Dep't of</u> <u>Social and Health Services</u>, 177 Wn.2d 804 (2013). But, there is a dearth of authority on the meaning of the term "financial exploitation" under the Abuse Vulnerable Adults Act. The decision in this case will have a significant impact upon the rights vulnerable adults and caregivers alike, and it is therefore important for this Court to provide guidance to lower courts applying the financial exploitation provision of RCW 74.34.020 in the future.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should accept Ms. Gradinaru's petition for review and reverse the finding of financial exploitation issued by the agency.

14