I. INTRODUCTION 

The Petitioner, Estera Gradinaru, was the co-owner of an 

adult family home where Elaine, a vulnerable adult, was a resident.. 

Ms. Gradinaru took morphine that was prescribed for Elaine and ingested 

it in a failed suicide attempt. In an administrative proceeding, the 

Respondent, the Department of Social and Health Services (Department), 

determined that this action constituted financial exploitation of a 

vulnerable adult. Ms. Gradinaru appealed this decision to the superior 

court, and then later the Court of Appeals, both of which affirmed the 

Department's decision and final order. 

Ms. Gradinaru now requests that this Court accept review to 

consider whether the Court of Appeals correctly determined that a 

caretaker's use of a vulnerable adult's property to further the caretaker's 

own goal, even if that goal is self-destructive, constitutes financial 

exploitation. Ms. Gradinaru's requ~st for review fails to meet any of the 

criteria for review under RAP 13 .4(b ), and should be denied. 

II. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

This case is not appropriate for review under RAP 13.4(b). But if 

review were granted, the only issue presented would be: 

Did the Department err when it concluded that a 
caretaker's use of a vulnerable adult's property to further 
the caretaker's own goal, even if ·self-destructive, 



constitutes fmancial exploitation as defmed by former 
RCW 74.34.020(6) (2010)? 

III. RESTATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Ms. Gradbiaru Took And Ingested A Vulnerable Adult's 
Medication 

In October 2010, Ms. Gradinaru was the co-owner of the 

Bellevue Rose Adult Family Home (Bellevue Rose Home). Elaine was a 

resident of that long term care facility. Administrative Record (AR) at 2. 

Elaine was 91 years old, suffered from dementia, and was in hospice care. 

AR at 2. As a result, Elaine's Negotiated Care Plan was amended to 

provide that her hospice nurse would dispense her medications to her. 

Elaine's medications included "comfort medications," prescribed for end-

of-life treatment. Included in the comfort medications was a vial of liquid 

morphine. Id 

At that time, Ms. Gradinaru was emotionally distressed, and she 

was also in physical pain. She wanted her pain to stop. AR at 4. 

Ms. Gradinaru took Elaine's morphine from the adult family home and 

went to a local Park-and-Ride station. !d. She took one-half capful of the 

morphine, which made her feel sleepy. !d. Ms. Gradinaru's father soon 

arrived at the Park-and-Ride and took her back to his home. !d. One-half 

capful of morphine would have eased Ms. Gradinaru's physical pain and 

made her feel sleepy, but would not have killed her. !d. · 

2 



Ms. Gradinaru was still in physical pain when she arrived at her 

father's home, so her brother took her to Overlake Hospital. She was 

initially admitted to the hospital based upon her physical pain. After she 

told the hospital staff treating her that she had taken the morphine in a 

failed suicide attempt, she was admitted to the psychiatric unit. Id. It is 

uncontested that Ms. Gradinaru took Elaine's morphine to ease her own 

physical and emotional distress. AR at 4-5. Ms. Gradinaru's physical 

pain is closely correlated to her psychological pain and her physical 

distress is exacerbated when she is emotionally distressed. AR at 4. 

B. The Adult Family Home Licensing Investigation Verified 
Ms. Gradinaru Took Elaine's Medication 

The Department received an anonymous complaint alleging that 

Ms. Gradinaru took an adult family home resident's medications in a 

failed suicide attempt. AR at 3. Katherine Ander is an adult family home 

licensing complaint investigator, and she went to the Bellevue Rose Home 

to investigate. Id When Ms. Ander arrived, Elaine was the only resident 

who was prescribed a narcotic drug, morphine, to address end-of-life 

issues. Id. Ms. Ander looked at Elaine's vial of morphine. The seal on 

the vial was broken, and it appeared as if approximately one cc of 

morphine was missing. AR at 4. Ms. Ander interviewed Elaine's hospice 

nurse and learned that Elaine did not yet need any of the comfort 
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medications that had been prescribed for her. !d. Ms. Ander later 

interviewed Ms. Gradinaru after she had been discharged from Overlake 

Hospital. Id Ms. Gradinaru admitted to taking and ingesting Elaine's 

morphine and that, on the date she took the morphine, Ms. Gradinaru was 

in physical and emotional pain and she wanted it to stop. Verbatim Report 

of Proceedings (VRP) at 23. This investigation led to the revocation of 

Ms. Gradinaru's adult family home license. VRP at 32. 

C. The Department's Resident And Client Protection Program 
Found Ms. Gradinaru Took Elaine's Medication for Her Own 
Use 

The Resident and Client Protection Program within the Department 

investigates allegations that adult family home residents have been abused, 

neglected, or financially exploited by individuals working in an adult 

family home. WAC 388-76-11000. 1 These investigations are separate 

from licensing investigations like the one described above. Mary Moran is 

the Resident and Client Protection Program Investigator who was assigned 

to investigate. Ms. Gradinaru told Ms. Moran that she took Elaine's 

morphine and ingested it. VRP at 60-61. Based on her investigation, 

1 If the allegations against an individual are substantiated, the Department 
makes a preliminary fmding of abuse, neglect, or exploitation. See WAC 388-76-11005. 
Any individual with access to a long-term care facility is eligible for a fmding of abuse, 
neglect, exploitation, or fmancial exploitation, regardless of whether the individual is a 
licensed provider. WAC 388-76-11000. Specifically, providers, employees of the adult 
family home, entity representatives, anyone affiliated with a provider, and caregivers, are 
all subject to such findings. Jd 
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Ms. Moran concluded that Elaine was a vulnerable adult, Ms. Gradinaru 

ingested some of Elaine's medications for her own purpose, and Elaine did 

not benefit or profit from Ms. Gradinaru's actions. AR at 5. Based on this 

investigation, the Department found that Ms. Gradinaru financially 

exploited Elaine when she took property of value, specifically the 

morphine medication, for her own use. See AR at 103. 

D. The Administrative Proceeding And Appeals 

The Department notified Ms. Gradinaru of the finding of fmancial 

exploitation against her, and her right to appeal. Ms. Gradinaru appealed 

both the revocation of her adult family home license and the finding of 

financial exploitation to the Office of Administrative Hearings. VRP at 5. 

The issue of the adult family home license was resolved with a dismissal 

of the appeal. VRP at 5-6. The only issue remaining for the 

administrative hearing was whether the finding of financial exploitation 

was correct. · 

During the hearing, the facts were largely stipulated and 

Ms. Gradinaru exercised her Fifth Amendment right to not 

incriminate herself. She refused to testify regarding the theft of the drugs. 

VRP at 13-16. The Administrative Law Judge issued an initial decision 

reversing the Department's finding of financial exploitation. AR at 37-45. 

The Department requested-Board of Appeals review: of the initial order 
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because there were errors in both the fmdings of fact and the conclusions 

of law. AR at 26-35. The Board of Appeals issued a Review Decision 

and Final Order that reversed the initial order, and affirmed the finding of 

financial exploitation against Ms. Gradinaru for taking Elaine's morphine 

medication for her own use. AR at 1-12. 

Upon review, King County Superior Court Judge Bruce Heller 

affirmed the Department's Review Decision and Final Order. Clerk's 

Papers (CP) at 41-43. The Court of Appeals also affirmed the agency's 

order holding that, when a caretaker uses a vulnerable adult's property to 

further the caretaker's own goal, even if self-destructive, such use 

constitutes financial exploitation as defined by former RCW 74.34.020(6) 

(2010). 

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Case Does Not Satisfy RAP 13.4(b) Criteria 

Ms. Gradinaru requests discretionary review under the criteria 

stated in RAP 13.4(b)(l), (4). Petition for Review at 5, 13. Under these 

grounds for review, a petition will be accepted by this Court only if the 

decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this 

Court, or the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that 

should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(l), (4). These grounds 

do not justify discretionary review of this case. 
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1. The Court of Appeals' Holding Does Not Conflict With 
A Decision of The Supreme Court 

The Petitioner's basic contention is that the Court of Appeals' 

ruling conflicts with Supreme Court precedent regarding statutory 

construction. However, the Court of Appeals faithfully applied this 

Court's statutory construction rulings to conclude that Ms. Gradinaru 

committed financial exploitation. Discretionary Review under RAP 

13.4(b)(l) is not justified when the Court of Appeals' decision utilizes 

well-established legal principles. 

a. The Ordinary Meaning of "Advantage" Does 
Not Require An Objectively Positive Outcome 

Former RCW 74.34.020(6) (2010/ defined "financial 

exploitation" as "the illegal or improper use of the property, income, 

resources, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult by any person for any 

person's profit or advantage other than for the vulnerable adult's profit or 

advantage." The terms "advantage" is undefined in chapter 74.34 RCW. 

2 The definition of financial exploitation was expanded, effective July 22, 2011, 
to include the ability to make a finding against an entity and, to also make a finding 
against someone for improperly controlling or withholding property, income, resources, 
or trust funds. Therefore, the current definition of financial exploitation is ''the illegal or 
improper use, control over. or withholding of the property, income, resources, or trust 
funds of the vulnerable adult byany person or entity for any person's or entity's profit or 
advantage other than for the vulnerable adult's profit or advantage." RCW 74.34.020(6) 
(emphasis added). Thtee non-exclusive examples were also added to the definition. 
These amendments to the statute were effective after the agency action in this case and do 
not change the outcome here. 
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Under the principles of statutory construction, when a statutory term is 

undefined, the court may look to a dictionary for its ordinary meaning. 

In re Estate of Blessing, 174 Wn.2d 228, 231, 273 P.3d 975 (2012) 

(internal citations omitted). 

Citing to the dictionary defmition, the Court of Appeals 

determined that "advantage" in the financial exploitation definition means 

"a more favorable or improved position or condition ... benefit, profit, or 

gain of any kind." Gradinaru v. State, Dep 't of Soc. & Health Servs., _ 

Wn. App. _, 325 P.3d ·209, 211 (2014). The Court of Appeals then 

correctly determined that, in the context of chapter 74.34 RCW, a person 

engaging in the unauthorized use of a vulnerable adult's property receives 

an advantage when that use benefits or facilitates the goals of the person 

using the property, whether or not that goal is wise or healthy. Id. 

Ms. Gradinaru contends that this interpretation of fmancial 

exploitation, which is based on the dictionary definition of "advantage," 

conflicts with the plain meaning of the word "advantage" as it is used 

within former RCW 74.34.020(6) (2010). This theory appears to be based 

on the concept that suicide is inherently self-destructive and cannot be 

considered a benefit or gain for a person, even if that individual wishes to 

die and steals a vulnerable adult's property to further that goal. See 

Petition for Review at 7. While the Court of Appeals noted that suicide 
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was a self-destructive act, it also pointed out that there is nothing in the 

financial exploitation statute that requires a court or the Department to 

take into consideration whether or not the illegal or improper use of the 

vulnerable adult's property was helpful or harmful to the individual using 

it. Gradinaru, 325 P.3d at 211-12. This is consistent with the intent ofthe 

statute, which is to protect vulnerable adults. The ultimate impact on the 

person who exploited the vulnerable adult is simply not relevant. As a 

result, the Court of Appeals properly recognized that it would be absurd to 

determine that the definition of financial exploitation excludes when an 

individual takes and ingests a vulnerable adult's medication for a harmful 

purpose. Gradinaru, 325 P.3d at 212. 

In response to Ms. Gradinaru' s assertion that this interpretation of 

the statute is absurd, the Court of Appeals noted that financial exploitation 

occurs where a caregiver takes and ingests a vulnerable adult's medication 

to feed the caregiver's own substance abuse. !d. If taking and ingesting a 

vulnerable adult's medication for the self-destructive purpose of substance 

abuse supports a fmding of fmancial exploitation, then certainly doing the 

same thing for the self-destructive purpose of committing suicide must 

also qualify as a financial exploitation. Therefore, this result is not absurd, 

but in fact 
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consistent with the purpose of the statute: to protect a 
vulnerable adult who is unable to protect herself by 
penalizing an individual who improperly or illegally uses 
that vulnerable adult's property for her own purpose in a 
way that does not benefit the vulnerable adult. 

Gradinaru, 325 P.3d at 213. 

Arguably, the act of stealing property from anyone, least of all a 

vulnerable adult, is objectively self-destructive because stealing can lead 

to many potential negative outcomes, like going to jail or being barred 

from working in certain settings. Simply because an action is self-

destructive, it does not become a defense to a finding of financial 

exploitation. 

b. Monetary Benefit Or Monetary Profit Are Not 
Required To Meet The Statutory Definition Of 
Financial Exploitation 

Ms. Gradinaru also contends that the Court of Appeals erred 

because the plain language rule requires that the benefit or advantage that 

Ms. Gradinaru received be "quantifiable in monetary terms." She asserts 

that to determine otherwise would eliminate the word "financial" from the 

statute and violate the plain language rule and the rule against superfluity. 

Petition for Review at 9-10, 12. This position ignores that "fmancial 

exploitation" is a term of art that is expressly defined in statute, rather than 

two uridefmed words that could otherwise be accorded their plain and . . . 
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ordinary meanings. It is an axiom of statutory interpretation that, where a 

term is defined; the Court uses the statutory definition. US. v. Hoffman, 

154 Wn,2d 730, 741, 116 P.3d 999 (2005). Therefore, the Court of 

Appeals properly analyzed the term "financial exploitation" to mean 

exactly what it is statutorily defined to mean: "the illegal or improper use 

of the property, income, resources, or trust funds of the vulnerable adult 

by any person for any person's profit or advantage other than for the 

vulnerable adult's profit or advantage." F'ormer RCW 74.34.020(6) 

(2010) (emphasis added). 

As she argued before the Court of Appeals, Ms. Gradinaru cites to 

two non-exclusive examples of fmancial exploitation, which were added 

to the defmition of financial exploitation more than two months after the 

preliminary fmding of fmancial exploitation was made against her, to 

support the position that any advantage or profit must be monetary.3 

Petition for Review at 10-11. Even if the non-exclusive examples in the 

2011 amendments applied at the time a fmding was made against 

Ms. Gradinaru, she only cites to two of the three new examples. The third 

new example, at RCW 74.34.020(6)(c), actually supports the position that 

the advantage or benefit does not need to be monetary. 

3 The preliminary finding was made against Ms. Gradinaru on May 2, 2011. 
· AR at 103. Amendments to the definition of fmancial exploitation, to include three non
exclusive examples, became effective on July 22, 2011. Laws of2011, ch. 170, § 1 at 3. 

11 



RCW 74.34.020(6)(c) states that another example of financial 

exploitation is: 

Obtaining or using a vulnerable adult's property, income, 
resources, or trust funds without lawful authority, by a 
person or entity who knows or clearly should know that 
the vulnerable adult lacks the capacity to consent to the 
release or use ofhis or her property, income, resources, or 
trust funds. 

As the Court of Appeals noted, 

[T[he nonexclusive list of examples were not part of th~ 
statute when the Department determined that Gradinaru 
committed financial exploitation. Furthermore, the 
examples include the use of a vulnerable adult's 
"property, income, resources, or trust funds," and are not 
limited to "financial assets. Therefore, the recently added 
examples do not support a different result 

Gradinaru, 325 P.3d at 212. 

2. There Is No Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That . 
Should Be Determined By The Supreme Court 

Ms. Gradinaru claims that this case involves an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by this Court because it is a 

question of first impression impacting the protection of vulnerable adults, 

which is of great concern to the people of Washington State. Petition for 

Review at 13. While she is correct in her assertion that, in general, the 

treatment of vulnerable adults is of substantial public interest, that alone 

does not justify review of this particular case by this Court under RAP 

13.4(b)(4). 
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Ms. Gradinaru has failed to establish why further direction is 

needed from this Court on this issue at this time. This Court has already 

provided direction on the principles of statutory construction through the 

cases that the Court of Appeals relied upon to render its decision. Because 

Ms. Gradinaru has not established ·that the decision of the Court of 

Appeals conflicts with any other decisions of either this Court or the Court 

of Appeals, there is no need for this Court to weigh in further at this time, 

and discretionary review should be denied. 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 
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V. CONCLUSION 

This case does not warrant review by this Court. The Court of 

Appeals used well-settled legal principles concerning statutory 

construction to determine that a caretaker who uses a vulnerable adult's 

property to further the caretaker's own goal, even if self-destructive, 

commits financial exploitation as defmed by former RCW 74.34.020(6) 

(2010). Ms. Gradinaru's petition for review fails to meet the criteria 

required for granting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). The Department 

asks this Court to deny review. 

LJ!!L